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10 N. Swinton Avenue (aka City Center Delray) – 2022-060 
 

The subject properties consist of 10 North Swinton (Doc’s All American) an unaddressed 
parking lot located west of 10 North Swinton Avenue and 37 West Atlantic Avenue (Dunkin 
Donuts). These properties are identified as non-contributing to both historic district 
designations. The properties associated with the subject development proposal are zoned Old 
School Square Historic Arts District (OSSHAD) with CBD Overlay and located within the Locally 
and Nationally Designated Old School Square Historic District. The project is subject to the 
development standards of the Central Business District (CBD), and West Atlantic Neighborhood 
Commercial Area. 
 
On September 1st, 2021 the Historic Preservation Board recommended approval to the City 
Commission for individual designation of Doc’s (10 N Swinton Avenue). This was brought to 
City Commission for their first reading on October 5, 2021. The second reading has been 
postponed. 
 
The request before the board is for a Certificate of Appropriateness, Waiver, In-lieu Parking, 
and Conditional Use request for the renovation of Doc’s Place (10 N Swinton Avenue), the 
removal of the Dunkin’ Donuts building and the construction of 3 story, 41,000 sq. ft mixed-use 
building in the Art Deco style, including retail and restaurant uses on the ground floor, and office 
spaces on the second & third floor. The mixed-use structure will adjoin the renovated Doc’s 
building. The request also includes a Waiver Request to allow the proposed arcades to be more 
than 5’ from the face of the columns to the street curb and proposed In Lieu parking for 28 
parking spaces.  A Conditional Use request for Outdoor dining at night is also a part of the 
application.  
 
 

  

Application Type:   
Certificate of Appropriateness 
Class V Site Plan Modification, 
Waiver, In-Lieu Parking, and 
Conditional Use 

Address/Location:   
 10 N. Swinton Avenue 

Zoning District/ Overlay:  
OSSHAD (Old School Square Historic Arts 
District) zoning district  
Overlay: CBD (Central Business District) & 
West Atlantic Neighborhood Commercial 
Area 

Applicant:  John Szerdi  
MDG Banyan Delray Partners, LLC 
 

Project Planner:  
Michelle Hoyland 
hoylandm@mydelraybeach.com 
 
Katherina Paliwoda 
paliwodak@mydelraybeach.com 
 

Advisory Board Review Date(s): 

DDA: June 21, 2022 

PMAB: June 28, 2022 

CRA: TBA 

HPB(Cond Use):TBA 

PZB (Cond. Use): TBA 

CC (Cond. Use): TBA 

Final Action Review Date:   

HPB: TBA 

Attachments:  
Proposed Plans  
NOTE: This item is under review and is 
subject to changes upon further 
analysis based on comments made by 
Staff according to the City’s Land 
Development Regulations (LDR) and 
other department technical reviews. 
Any comments or objections shall be 
presented to the approving body during 
the scheduled meeting or discussed 
with the project planner in advance. 

 
Memo Date: June 2, 2022 

Location Map 

mailto:hoylandm@mydelraybeach.com
mailto:paliwodak@mydelraybeach.com


 

 

 
 

MAILING: p.o. box 288, lake worth, fl 33460 - 0288  |  OFFICE: 1005 lake avenue, lake worth beach, fl 33460 

PH: 561.631.8874  |  www.ldgfla.com 

 

 

CITY CENTER DELRAY  IN-LIEU PARKING REQUEST JUSTIFICATION 

( revised 4/26/22) 

Pursuant to LDR Section 2.4.5 (O), the Applicant , MDG Banyan Delray Partners,LLC 

requests a approval for in-lieu parking per LDR Section 4.4.13 (I)(g) which states:  

(g) Properties located within 750 feet of a public parking garage or the Planned Tri-Rail Coastal Link 
Station (See Figure 4.4.13-5) may opt to use the in-lieu fee option provided in Section 4.6.9(E)(3) up 
to 50 percent of the required off-street parking amount, except that restaurant and lounge uses are 
limited to 30 percent. The distance shall be measured along the closest pedestrian route between 
nearest building entrances/the planned station location.  

The partial aerial vicinity view on sheet A0.02 illustrates the distance measured along 

pedestrian routes between the building entrances and parking garages within 750 feet. 

Also included on sheet A0.20 are the project data tables. The shared parking matrix from 

LDR Section 4.6.9 (C)(8)(a) quantifies the required parking of the proposed mixed-use 

building. The shared parking matrix indicates a required number of 53 parking spaces. 28 

spaces are provided on site per the Regulating plan on sheet A0.20. The Applicant is 

opting to provide the remaining 25 spaces as in-lieu parking. Per the shared parking matrix, 

the 7.72 required restaurant area spaces x 30% = 2.32 allowable in-lieu spaces,  50% of the 

combined office (33.79) = 16.90 allowable in-lieu spaces and 50% of retail (11.73) = 5.87 

allowable in-lieu spaces equal a total 25.09 allowable in-lieu spaces for the project. The 28 

on-site parking spaces plus the 25 in-lieu spaces meets the minimum required 53 spaces. 

 

Additionally, a public parking lot with 98 spaces exists directly north of the adjacent alley 

which accesses both the project and the public parking lot.  

 

 

 The Applicant respectfully requests the approval of this in-lieu parking request for this 

project.  

https://library.municode.com/fl/delray_beach/codes/land_development_regulations_?nodeId=CH4ZORE_ART4.6SUDIRE_S4.6.9OREPARE
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May 5, 2022 

City of Delray Beach 

100 NW 1st Avenue 

Delray Beach, Florida 33444 

 

Attn: Mr. Brian Ruscher, AICP 

Re: Proposed TDM Plan  

Project: City Center Delray – Lots 13-16, Block 60, OSSHAD w/ CBD Overlay 

 

Mr. Ruscher: 

 

I appreciate your guidance during the TAC review of the referenced Project. As Architect-

Of-Record, please accept this letter for the TDM Plan associated with the COA and Site 

Development Plan processing of our Project. 

 

 

CITY CENTER DELRAY  TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

Pursuant to LDR 2.4.3 (E) (3) Transportation demand management. A land use application, which 
will add use area or establish a new use, that will result in the addition on the premises of more 
than 50 employees, located in the City's TCEA (Transportation Concurrency Exception Area), shall 
include submittal of a program to implement employer-based TDM (Transportation Demand 
Management) activities. These activities may include, but are not limited to, ride sharing, van 
pooling, and flexible work hours. 

 

 

The City Center Delray project is a proposed mixed-use project comprising 8,379 sf of retail 

space, 2,575 sf of restaurant space and 16,893 sf of office space.  Please refer to the 

submitted plans for more data, plans and details.  The Traffic study by John M Donaldson, 

PE, PTOE of JMD Engineering indicates approximately 889 new daily (DT)trips to be 

generated for the project. It is the intent of the TDM plan to reduce the DT by 10%.  

 

The applicant, MDG Banyan Delray Partners, LLC, will implement a TDM plan that will be 

presented to future tenants of the building. The applicant will encourage all future tenants 

to implement as many of the elements in the plan as possible to reduce the single-

occupant vehicular uses for their employees. The TDM plan will be an educational program 

outlining information on the opportunities to reduce the employee single-occupant trips to 

their place of work. 

 



 

 

 
 

MAILING: p.o. box 288, lake worth, fl 33460 - 0288  |  OFFICE: 1005 lake avenue, lake worth beach, fl 33460 

PH: 561.631.8874  |  www.ldgfla.com 

The TDM Plan for City Center Delray will encourage the future employer-based tenants to 

consider implementing the following opportunities and incentives: 

 

1) Encourage the future office, restaurant, and retail tenants to offer vouchers, transit 

subsidies and schedules/routes to educate and incentivize employees to use Palm 

Tran, Go Glades, Tri-Rail or other non-single occupancy modes of alternate 

transportation. 

2) Encourage the future office, restaurant, and retail tenants to work with their 

employees to implement flexible work shifts to assist them to accommodate their 

use of the non-single occupancy modes of transportation options noted above. 

3) Encourage the future office tenants to work with their employees to implement 

telecommuting with flexible works hours from their homes to reduce the trips to their 

office.  

4) Encourage the future office tenants to offer staggered work hours to reduce the 

number of trips arriving or leaving the place of employment at one time as well as 

the “rush hour” congestion into the city. 

5) Encourage future employers to use posting flyers from commuter services of south 

Florida to communicate existing tools available to employees for carpooling, ride 

sharing or ride matching. On an annual basis, report the number of employees to 

the City of Delray Beach, and the number of employees participating in TDM 

Programs or mode share of employees 

 

 

 The Applicant hereby submits the outlined TDM Plan above for this project for 

consideration.  

 

 

Respectfully, 

 

 

 

John W. Szerdi 

founder / president  I  architect  I  leed ap  

LDG FLORIDA ARCHITECTS, INC. 

 

 

Cc: Murphy Design Group, Applicant 

 Steven Michael, Applicant 

 Neil Schiller, Agent 

John
JWS signature
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